
 United Nations  A/C.5/61/SR.9

  
 

General Assembly 
Sixty-first session 
 
Official Records 

 
Distr.: General 
16 November 2006 
 
Original: English 

 

 

This record is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member 
of the delegation concerned within one week of the date of publication to the Chief of the 
Official Records Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a 
copy of the record. 

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each 
Committee. 
 

06-58225 (E) 
*0658225* 

Fifth Committee 
 

Summary record of the 9th meeting 
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Monday, 23 October 2006, at 10 a.m. 
 

Chairman: Mr. Yousfi . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (Algeria) 
 later: Mr. Mammadov (Vice-Chairman) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (Azerbaijan) 
 
 
 

Contents 
 

Agenda item 47: Integrated and coordinated implementation of and follow-up to the 
outcomes of the major United Nations conferences and summits in the economic, 
social and related fields 

Agenda item 113: Follow-up to the outcome of the Millennium Summit 

Agenda item 116: Review of the efficiency of the administrative and financial 
functioning of the United Nations 

Agenda item 117: Programme budget for the biennium 2006-2007 (continued) 

Agenda item 122: Scale of assessments for the apportionment of the expenses of the 
United Nations (continued) 

Agenda item 123: Human resources management 

Agenda item 124: Joint Inspection Unit (continued) 

Agenda item 132: Administrative and budgetary aspects of the financing of the 
United Nations peacekeeping operations 

Agenda item 149: United Nations reform: measures and proposals 



A/C.5/61/SR.9  
 

06-58225 2 
 

The meeting was called to order at 10.05 a.m. 
 
 
 

Agenda item 47: Integrated and coordinated 
implementation of and follow-up to the outcomes of 
the major United Nations conferences and summits 
in the economic, social and related fields 
(A/60/846/Add.5 and A/60/904) 
 
 

Agenda item 113: Follow-up to the outcome of the 
Millennium Summit (A/60/846/Add.5 and A/60/904) 
 
 

Agenda item 116: Review of the efficiency of the 
administrative and financial functioning of the 
United Nations (A/59/721 and Add.1; A/60/846/Add.5 
and A/60/904) 
 
 

Agenda item 117: Programme budget for the 
biennium 2006-2007 (continued) (A/60/846/Add.5 and 
A/60/904) 
 
 

Agenda item 122: Scale of assessments for the 
apportionment of the expenses of the United Nations 
(continued) (A/60/846/Add.5 and A/60/904) 
 
 

Agenda item 123: Human resources management 
(A/60/846/Add.5 and A/60/904) 
 
 

Agenda item 124: Joint Inspection Unit (continued) 
(A/59/721 and Add.1) 
 
 

Agenda item 132: Administrative and budgetary 
aspects of the financing of the United Nations 
peacekeeping operations (A/60/846/Add.5 and 
A/60/904) 
 
 

Agenda item 149: United Nations reform: measures 
and proposals 
 

1. The Chairman recalled that at its sixtieth session 
the General Assembly had deferred consideration of 
the report of the Secretary-General on investing in the 
United Nations: for a stronger Organization worldwide: 
detailed report on procurement reform 
(A/60/846/Add.5) and the related report of the 
Advisory Committee on Administrative and Budgetary 
Questions (ACABQ) (A/60/904) to its sixty-first 
session. The Committee had decided to discuss the two 
reports further in conjunction with the introduction of 
the related report of the Joint Inspection Unit (JIU). 

2. Mr. Yussuf (Joint Inspection Unit), speaking via 
videoconference from Geneva, introduced the report of 
the Joint Inspection Unit on procurement practices 
within the United Nations system (A/59/721). He said 
that the main objective of the report was to identify 
opportunities for increasing procurement efficiency 
and effectiveness in the United Nations system, 
especially through productivity enhancement, 
improved cooperation and coordination and 
technological innovations; the intention of the report 
was to provide the General Assembly and legislative 
bodies of other United Nations system organizations 
with concrete recommendations.     

3. While the scope and value of procurement 
activities varied significantly across the organizations 
and subgroups of the system, the function itself had 
become financially high-profile and high-risk, 
representing almost 40 per cent of the combined 
regular and extrabudgetary resources of the 
organizations. The United Nations accounted for 
85 per cent of total procurement by United Nations 
system organizations. The JIU report covered all the 
organizations of the system, and focused on strategic 
issues most likely to contribute to the cost-
effectiveness of the process within and among the 
organizations, namely cooperation and coordination, 
electronic procurement and capacity-building. It 
concluded that there was a need to rationalize, in 
particular, the procurement of common user items and 
to increase outsourcing as a means of reducing overlap 
and competition within the international procurement 
community. 

4. The report discussed the shortcomings of the 
procurement function and the need for the training of 
staff. It recommended that emphasis should be placed 
on training in electronic procurement methods and on 
technical assistance in support of capacity-building for 
public procurement in developing countries and 
countries with economies in transition. 

5. Procurement activities of the organizations did 
not currently have the benefit of central policy 
guidance: harmonization of policies, procedures and 
practices still had to make decisive headway. There had 
been some improvements, including the development 
of common approaches and tools such as the lead 
agency concept and the common supply database 
portal, but unfortunately both the Inter-Agency 
Procurement Working Group (IAPWG) mechanism and 
the Inter-Agency Procurement Services Office 



 A/C.5/61/SR.9

 

3 06-58225 
 

(IAPSO) had an ill-defined status. The former 
remained an informal forum without policy or 
legislative oversight, while the latter was more a 
United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) 
entity than an inter-agency procurement facility. 

6. The report recommended that the Secretary-
General should review the feasibility and efficiency 
benefits of consolidating the overhead structures and 
costs of procurement services at Headquarters, as well 
as ways to strengthen collaboration and avoid overlap 
between the United Nations Office for Project Services 
(UNOPS) and IAPSO, possibly by merging them, 
which could result in annual savings of some 
US$ 800,000 through the elimination of duplicate 
posts. Additional benefits of such a merger would be 
the combining of their respective strengths and the 
rationalization of the procurement services and 
practices of the common system. The implications of a 
merger would need to be studied in greater detail. The 
senior management of UNOPS would be meeting in 
late November 2006 to examine ways and means of 
implementing the recommendation.  

7. Electronic procurement was regarded by virtually 
all the organizations as offering potential for 
modernizing the procurement function and bringing it 
to world-class standards. Major constraints such as the 
lack of a legal and procedural framework and limited 
confidence in the reliability of electronic transactions 
had gradually been overcome. Revised financial 
regulations and rules in most organizations had also 
contributed to the use of electronic procurement, but 
despite some automation of procurement processes 
there was still a long way to go before electronic 
procurement could be implemented system-wide. The 
report offered a road map to that end. 

8. The report also discussed how organizations 
could use the procurement function as a development 
tool in recipient countries by stimulating and 
strengthening local supplier markets and institutions, 
without prejudice to the integrity of basic procurement 
standards and procedures. In addition, organizations 
could develop capacity-building technical assistance 
programmes in support of public procurement agencies 
in recipient countries as part of good governance and 
public integrity programmes. 

9. The report had been well received by individual 
organizations and by the United Nations System Chief 
Executives Board for Coordination (CEB) collectively. 

Most of the report’s recommendations had been 
accepted by the organizations and had either already 
been implemented or were in the process of being 
implemented.    

10. Mr. Herman (United Nations System Chief 
Executives Board for Coordination), introducing the 
note of the Secretary-General on the JIU report 
(A/59/721/Add.1), said that for the most part 
organizations had welcomed the comprehensive nature 
of the analysis presented in the report, noting that it 
contained a useful overview of the key areas of 
cooperation among agencies, touched on the key 
subjects of cooperation and capacity-building, and 
provided pointers to more effective use of electronic 
procurement techniques. By emphasizing in its 
recommendations such practices as procurement 
performance benchmarks, lead agencies, training of 
procurement officers, multilingual manuals and 
information sharing, the JIU report had focused on how 
to move towards a more rational approach to 
procurement.  

11. The response to the JIU recommendations had, 
however, been mixed. While organizations had 
accepted some of them, they had mostly done so with 
reservations. For example, in respect of 
recommendation 7, CEB members had not accepted the 
call for the formalization of the mandate of the Inter-
Agency Procurement Working Group, feeling that it 
would not add any value to the group’s operation, 
whereas retaining its informal nature added to the free 
flow of knowledge among procurement practitioners. 
CEB members also differed with JIU regarding its 
recommendation 2, on lead agencies, since acting as a 
lead agency placed a significant burden on executing 
agencies, and many organizations were not in a 
position to assume such activities on a regular basis. 
Organizations had emphasized that the best 
procurement results had not always resulted from a 
lead agency model, and that while the model could be 
useful at times there should be flexibility in its 
implementation. Implementation had, nonetheless, 
already begun of recommendation 4, on legal support, 
and of recommendation 5, on pricing.  

12. Organizations had expressed reservations 
regarding the method of analysis used by the JIU to 
measure cost-effectiveness, believing that more work 
needed to be done on the benchmarks used. Broadly, 
CEB members agreed with the report’s overall message 
that more could be done to improve system-wide 



A/C.5/61/SR.9  
 

06-58225 4 
 

harmonization of policies and practices. They noted the 
continuing efforts in organizations, and especially in 
the United Nations Secretariat, to conclude purchasing 
agreements allowing for economies of scale and 
improved pricing based on volume discounts. CEB 
members believed that procurement reform had 
benefited from increased cooperation among 
organizations. 

13. Ms. Lock (South Africa), speaking on behalf of 
the Group of 77 and China, said that the greater 
demands placed on the procurement system, especially 
by the expansion of peacekeeping, made it timely to 
address the issue of procurement reform. She agreed, 
however, with the Advisory Committee that the JIU 
report focused only on issues of internal control, while 
other issues such as optimizing acquisition and 
procurement management had not been developed. It 
was regrettable that, based on the findings of an 
external consultant, an impression had been created 
that internal controls had failed. Many of the issues 
raised in the report had been the subject of discussion 
in the Fifth Committee for many years, and it was 
regrettable that some of the recommendations of the 
Board of Auditors, the Joint Inspection Unit and the 
Office of Internal Oversight Services (OIOS) had so far 
not been fully implemented. JIU was to be commended 
for a comprehensive and useful report which had raised 
a number of important issues and made pertinent 
recommendations that needed serious consideration. 
The Group also noted the comments of CEB. The study 
was another example of the valuable work undertaken 
by JIU within the United Nations system, and raised 
the question of the indiscriminate hiring of external 
consultants when in-house capabilities were available. 

14. The Group welcomed the creation of the Ethics 
Office, the whistle-blower protection policy and the 
suggested programmes for ethics training of 
procurement staff, and looked forward to consideration 
of the report of the Secretary-General on the activities 
of the Ethics Office (A/61/274). The Group endorsed 
the supplier code of conduct and expected it to be 
applied in a consistent, universal, non-discriminatory 
and transparent manner. The Organization should be 
vigilant against the possible misuse of the independent 
bid protest system by vendors, which might undermine 
the procurement process. The Group called for an early 
resolution of the conflict between the ethics guidelines 
and the staff rules noted by the Advisory Committee 
(A/60/904, para. 7); the ethics guidelines for 

procurement staff should be issued as soon as possible 
and in all languages. 

15. On the training of procurement staff, the Group 
looked forward to detailed discussion of the proposals 
to rotate staff and develop a strategic career 
development programme for them in the context of 
reform of human resources management.  

16. Simple, transparent, implementable and rule-
based procurement processes were a sine qua non of an 
efficient and effective system, and the Group 
welcomed regular updates of the Procurement Manual, 
the promulgation of revised terms and conditions for 
tenders, and the strengthening of the Vendor Review 
Committee and vendor roster. Yet instances of systemic 
and human failures in the procurement system 
continued to be reported. The Group wondered whether 
the focus was on symptoms rather than on the root 
causes of the problem, but encouraged the Secretariat 
to undertake expeditiously the planned review of rules 
and procedures applicable to the field. 

17. Efficient and effective procurement required a 
high degree of accountability, which should not be 
applied selectively. The delegation of procurement 
authority from the Department of Management to the 
Department of Peacekeeping Operations necessitated 
close coordination between the two, and the Group 
awaited the report of the working group established to 
study the weaknesses in the control environment due to 
the splitting of responsibilities. The Group had also 
noted the proposed change in reporting authority for 
the Headquarters Committee on Contracts from the 
Office of Central Support Services to the Office of the 
Under-Secretary-General for Management, and 
recalled that the Secretariat had previously disputed a 
similar recommendation made by JIU; the Group 
would appreciate clarification. Any further initiative 
regarding information systems should take into account 
the proposed replacement of the Integrated 
Management Information System (IMIS) by the 
enterprise resource planning system.  

18. With regard to strategic initiatives to optimize 
procurement performance, the Group had taken note of 
the proposals on a global contract system, improved 
compliance with procurement planning, the lead 
agency concept, utilization of the best value for money 
principle and electronic procurement. Procurement 
planning and coordination were essential for an 
efficient and effective procurement system that would 



 A/C.5/61/SR.9

 

5 06-58225 
 

reduce costs and eliminate the need for circumventing 
established rules and procedures. Many of those issues 
were not new and it did not require a professional 
consultant to state the obvious.  

19. Regarding the lead agency concept, the Group 
regretted that the provisions of General Assembly 
resolution 60/260 had not been respected. The General 
Assembly had not agreed to the concept and was 
awaiting a detailed proposal. The Secretariat should 
prepare guidelines ensuring consistency in determining 
needs and in evaluating the ability of vendors to meet 
them in a timely and cost-effective manner.  

20. Regarding the best value for money concept, the 
Group considered that more details were required 
concerning its transparent, consistent and non-
discriminatory implementation since there was 
legitimate apprehension about its possible 
manipulation and use as a restrictive measure against 
vendors from developing countries and countries with 
economies in transition. The Group urged the 
Secretariat to explore additional ways of promoting 
procurement from those countries. There had been no 
response to the General Assembly’s request for 
concrete measures in that regard. In 2005, procurement 
from developing countries had amounted to only 33.9 
per cent, lower than in 2001. 

21. It should be recalled that one of the 
Organization’s main priorities was to promote 
economic and social development, and that United 
Nations procurement would have a significant impact. 
Better outreach would also enable the United Nations 
to increase considerably the number of possible 
vendors, which would yield increased competition and 
lower prices. The Group trusted that the Secretariat 
would provide it with answers to the questions it had 
raised in connection with the item at the sixtieth 
session.  

22. Ms. Pehrman (Finland), speaking on behalf of 
the European Union; the acceding countries Bulgaria 
and Romania; the candidate countries Croatia, the 
former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia and Turkey; 
the stabilization and association process countries 
Bosnia and Herzegovina and Montenegro; and, in 
addition, Iceland, Liechtenstein, Moldova, Norway and 
Ukraine, recalled that the value of procurement had 
increased significantly over the past two years as a 
direct result of the unprecedented surge in 
peacekeeping. Consequently, the procurement system 

was facing a number of challenges and, given the need 
to enhance transparency and accountability, the 
European Union fully supported the action taken to 
strengthen internal control measures. It also welcomed 
the steps taken to segregate duties and processes so as 
to avoid conflict of interest and promote integrity and 
ethics. In that connection, every effort must be made to 
issue the ethics guidelines for procurement staff.  

23. Among the measures already implemented, the 
decision to exercise tighter control over ex post facto 
cases for review by the Committee on Contracts was 
particularly welcome. She was also satisfied with the 
ongoing implementation of best practices in order to 
improve the efficiency of the procurement process. 
With regard to the risk management strategy, the 
European Union would be grateful for additional 
information about the diagnostic tools designed to 
identify potential anomalies in financial transactions 
and about the current level of system-wide cooperation 
in the area of procurement. The Secretariat should also 
provide further details of the efforts under way to 
clarify the organizational structure for procurement 
management and to tighten internal controls, and of the 
development of a formal training policy and the 
associated resource requirements. 

24. The temporary nature of the posts authorized by 
the General Assembly earlier in 2006 had made it 
difficult to fill them. Permanent resources should be 
committed to support the objectives of procurement 
reform. 

25. Mr. Talbot (Guyana), speaking on behalf of the 
Rio Group, said that the procurement system should be 
continually improved so as to keep pace with the 
growing size and complexity of United Nations 
operations. The system must be efficient and reliable, 
and it was vital to ensure that developing countries and 
countries with economies in transition had access to it.  

26. The Secretary-General’s report (A/60/846/Add.5) 
made a positive contribution to procurement reform. 
The Rio Group welcomed the measures to promote 
ethics, integrity and transparency, especially the 
establishment of the Ethics Office, the implementation 
of the whistle-blower protection policy and the 
provision of ethics training to all procurement staff. 
However, some of the other proposals set out in the 
report would require further discussion.  

27. While he recognized the value of the proposed 
measures relating to the management of procurement 



A/C.5/61/SR.9  
 

06-58225 6 
 

staff, career development frameworks for such staff 
must take account of the broader discussions on human 
resources management reform. The Advisory 
Committee on Administrative and Budgetary Questions 
had identified a conflict between the ethics guidelines 
for procurement staff and the staff rules, which must be 
resolved prior to the issuance of the former in all 
official languages.  

28. He welcomed the revised terms and conditions 
for tenders, since it was of the utmost importance to 
ensure that the terms were transparent, consistent and 
non-discriminatory. The strengthening of the Vendor 
Review Committee and of the vendor roster were also 
important steps, since proper planning and 
coordination were vital to an efficient and effective 
procurement system and must be addressed in a 
satisfactory manner. 

29. The governance structure of the procurement 
services was largely to blame for their shortcomings. 
An efficient and effective procurement system should 
combine clear delegation of authority with proper 
oversight, and accountability should rest with the 
delegating authority. The Department of Management 
should coordinate its activities with those of the 
Department of Peacekeeping Operations and, in that 
connection, the Rio Group was awaiting the outcome 
of the deliberations of the working group on 
organizational structure. Procurement information 
systems should be further enhanced and integrated.  

30. Notwithstanding the apparent benefits of the lead 
agency concept, no legislative mandate existed for its 
implementation. However, he agreed with the Advisory 
Committee that the Secretariat should further develop 
the concept, including by evaluating the ability of 
prospective vendors to meet needs in a timely and cost-
effective manner. The Rio Group would also like to 
examine in more detail the principle of best value for 
money, since it had serious concerns about the 
potential for discrimination against vendors from 
developing countries and countries with economies in 
transition. The Group attached particular importance to 
improving procurement opportunities for vendors from 
those countries. While the promotional business 
seminars were a welcome development in that regard, 
the Secretariat should seek additional methods of 
achieving its objectives. Lastly, the Advisory 
Committee’s request (A/60/904, para. 20) for 
information on the statistical analysis employed to 
determine the trends in procurement from developing 

countries and countries in transition was rather 
worrying, since the current imbalance between 
purchases from developed and developing countries 
might be even greater than that described in the report.  

31. Mr. Taula (New Zealand), speaking also on 
behalf of Australia and Canada, said that procurement 
outcomes should and could be improved and stressed 
that procurement reform was a key component of the 
wider process of management reform. Existing 
procurement processes had failed to keep pace with the 
evolving needs of managers in the field, and the 
resulting problems created unnecessary risks and costs, 
thereby reducing the effectiveness of the Organization, 
damaging its credibility and undermining support for 
its operations.  

32. United Nations procurement processes should 
support the effective and efficient implementation of 
the Organization’s mandates; provide realistic guidance 
and, where necessary, flexibility; set high standards of 
transparency, fairness and accountability; and provide 
for disciplined internal controls. A number of important 
reform measures had already been implemented and 
more were under way. However, further meaningful 
progress would not be achieved solely by creating new 
posts.  

33. He would be grateful for an overview of the 
reform proposals and for updates on the 
implementation of specific measures. In particular, he 
requested further information about the establishment 
of an independent bid protest system; the required 
professional qualifications for procurement staff; the 
progress made by the working group established to 
examine possible weaknesses in the control 
environment; and the outcome of the review of the 
financial threshold in respect of procurement 
requirements to be vetted by the Headquarters 
Committee on Contracts. Lastly, he asked whether any 
additional reports on procurement could be expected in 
the near future. 

34. Mr. Nguyen Tat Thanh (Viet Nam) said that the 
unprecedented expansion of the Organization’s 
peacekeeping operations had led to a significant 
increase in procurement activities. He welcomed the 
Secretary-General’s report on procurement reform and 
expressed strong support for the action taken to 
strengthen internal controls in the areas of ethics and 
integrity, management and staff, governance and 
information systems. 



 A/C.5/61/SR.9

 

7 06-58225 
 

35. Viet Nam agreed with the Advisory Committee 
that the procurement process in general remained 
unduly slow and involved duplicative steps. The 
Secretariat must therefore step up its efforts to further 
streamline and simplify all the related procedures, 
taking account of international best practices, in order 
to enhance transparency and efficiency. In particular, 
measures should be taken to reduce the workload of 
businesses from developing countries, which had fewer 
resources and less experience than their counterparts 
from developed countries.  

36. In accordance with the relevant General 
Assembly resolutions, increasing procurement 
opportunities for vendors from developing countries 
was now a priority. However, the number of 
procurement contracts awarded to developing countries 
and countries with economies in transition had barely 
risen since 2001, even though their overall 
competitiveness had increased considerably. In order to 
ensure that vendors from those countries were treated 
fairly, the Secretariat should earmark more resources 
for capacity-building. 

37. Mr. Brant (Brazil) stressed that procurement 
reform was one of the most important aspects of the 
management reform package, since the increased 
operational needs of the Organization called for an 
effective and reliable procurement system. However, in 
addition to developing a robust accountability 
framework for procurement processes, further efforts 
were needed to promote procurement in developing 
countries and countries with economies in transition. In 
that connection, he was concerned about the 
implementation of the principle of best value for 
money. In 2005, 41 per cent of the total number of 
procurement contracts had been awarded in accordance 
with that principle, and 80 per cent of those contracts 
had gone to companies in developed countries. It was 
therefore vital to ensure that the implementation of the 
principle did not engender discrimination against 
developing countries and countries with economies in 
transition. 

38. Mr. Debabeche (Algeria) wondered whether the 
ongoing reform of procurement at the United Nations 
had been initiated in response to the oil-for-food 
scandal, and pointed out that the oil-for-food 
programme had been managed by the Security Council 
and not the General Assembly. Procurement reform 
should have been a routine matter, but poor managerial 
practices within the Procurement Service had given the 

impression that incompetence and unethical conduct 
were rife throughout the Organization. 

39. Unfortunately, the recruitment procedures for 
procurement staff were not sufficiently rigorous, and it 
had therefore become necessary to introduce a costly 
training programme. The training modules on ethics 
and integrity would not be required if prospective 
recruits were properly vetted. Furthermore, the 
Secretary-General’s report made barely any mention of 
accountability, even though it was inextricably linked 
to the delegation of authority. Any reform that failed to 
consider that issue was destined for failure. 

40. In its comments on the report of the Joint 
Inspection Unit, the United Nations System Chief 
Executives Board for Coordination had focused on 
purely managerial issues, while the Secretary-General’s 
report had concentrated on internal controls. That 
would explain the decision, which was neither 
objective nor innocent, to hire the consulting firm 
Deloitte & Touche, thereby undermining the credibility 
of the Organization’s own internal control mechanisms. 
In that connection, he asked how much the consultant 
had been paid and pointed out that the money could 
have been put to better use as a contribution to the 
Development Account. The Secretariat’s propensity for 
contracting consultants at the drop of a hat should be 
scrutinized. 

41. The Advisory Committee had not objected to the 
creation of six additional posts and the reclassification 
of a D-1 post at the D-2 level. In addition, a risk 
management strategy had been introduced and the 
Procurement Manual had been updated. However, he 
remained cautious about a number of proposals and 
concepts, including the creation of a web portal for 
vendor registration, which penalized vendors who did 
not have Internet access or were unfamiliar with web-
based tools. Moreover, the implementation of the 
principle of best value for money would be detrimental 
to vendors from developing countries, whose share of 
procurement was already diminishing. The issue of 
information technology would have to be discussed 
further following the Secretary-General’s forthcoming 
report on that subject.  

42. Ultimately, the consultant’s report did not contain 
anything new. Recruiting additional staff was not a 
panacea and would not result in increased transparency 
or improved management.  



A/C.5/61/SR.9  
 

06-58225 8 
 

43. Mr. Al Khuraishi (Saudi Arabia) said that he 
attached great importance to procurement reform. 
However, while Saudi Arabia had attended the business 
seminars held by the Procurement Service and had 
invited relevant officials to meet local vendors and 
inspect their high-quality and competitive goods, the 
number of procurement contracts awarded to Saudi 
companies had not increased. Further efforts were 
therefore needed to promote procurement activities in 
developing countries. 

44. He welcomed the restructuring of the 
Headquarters Committee on Contracts, which now 
reported directly to the Under-Secretary-General for 
Management. The Secretary-General’s proposal to 
provide procurement staff with a minimum of two 
training sessions a year and the introduction of a lateral 
reassignment programme were also positive 
developments. He was pleased that additional measures 
had been taken to strengthen internal controls over 
daily activities and took the view that transparency and 
integrity would be further enhanced with the 
establishment of an effective system of personal 
accountability, including appropriate sanctions for 
anyone violating the procurement rules and 
regulations. In that connection, the Secretary-General’s 
efforts to protect whistle-blowers were commendable.  

45. Referring to the Procurement Manual, he said that 
it should be a living document that reflected best 
practices in public sector procurement. Lastly, he 
welcomed the establishment of a new central 
procurement department to oversee procurement 
activities in field missions. 

46. Mr. Hussain (Pakistan) said the exponential 
growth of United Nations procurement activities and 
reports of impropriety in the procurement process 
justified procurement reform to address a range of 
longstanding problems identified by oversight bodies 
and the General Assembly. He expressed concern, for 
example, that although developing countries had 
reached a participation level of 44.5 per cent of 
procurement activities, most procurement continued to 
go to a relative handful of suppliers. In addition, 
opportunities in African peacekeeping activities were 
dominated by North American and European 
companies, reducing opportunities for local suppliers. 
He therefore supported local inter-agency 
benchmarking and, where appropriate, joint 
procurement at the local level. 

47. Outreach activities to increase developing 
countries’ participation in the procurement process 
should continue. Increased registration of local vendors 
from developing countries would increase their 
prospects. A uniform technical evaluation procedure 
for prospective vendors and performance assessment of 
vendors would eliminate favouritism and ensure 
transparency and fairness. Since significant 
procurement occurred at the local level, compliance 
with the Procurement Manual, in particular by local 
vendor review committees and vendor database 
officers, was essential in order to enhance 
accountability. Missions must also insist on 
performance bonds of 10 to 30 per cent of the contract 
price for contracts over $100,000. 

48. Appropriate action plans must be developed to 
reduce the significant number of vacant procurement 
posts in peacekeeping missions, with priority given in 
the near term to key posts such as chief procurement 
officer. Administrative heads of peacekeeping missions 
must be held accountable for submitting procurement 
plans on time, with submissions monitored on a 
quarterly basis. Sound planning would indicate 
whether the mission was capable of meeting its 
procurement requirements and help to ensure that 
appropriate procedures were followed, thus eliminating 
the need for exigency and ex post facto actions. Noting 
that the average lead time for contract approvals 
ranged from 7 to 461 days, he stressed the need for 
measures to shorten the contracting process. 

49. The Secretariat had taken a number of steps in the 
right direction in response to the numerous 
recommendations. He welcomed the establishment of a 
joint working group of the Department of Management 
and the Department of Peacekeeping Operations and 
looked forward to its recommendations. The Secretary-
General should pay special attention to updating the 
field procurement system while taking into account the 
requirements of Headquarters. The Procurement 
Reform Implementation Team due to be established 
should focus on the whole range of internal control 
issues. The Secretary-General’s measures to optimize 
acquisition and procurement management, such as 
dispute resolution and competency models hiring 
standards, were important steps forward. 

50. In addition to the progress already made, reform 
must lead to implementation of a strong accountability 
and ethics framework, full respect for financial rules, 
strong internal controls, more efficient procurement, 



 A/C.5/61/SR.9

 

9 06-58225 
 

prevention of fraud, improved procedures and controls 
to reduce the risk factor caused by over-reliance on 
human resources, award of contracts on an equitable 
geographical basis, and greater local level 
procurement. Procedures for technical evaluation of 
vendors must be complied with and the discretion of 
procurement officers should be restricted by vendor 
review committees in all missions. 

51. Performance bonds should be obtained from all 
contractors, procurement staff vacancy rates must be 
lowered and each mission should have a procurement 
plan. Externally evaluated training programmes for 
procurement officers should be developed and a code 
of conduct for suppliers widely disseminated. 
Safeguards must be developed to minimize ex post 
facto procurement and exigency procurement should be 
limited. There should be a clear division of 
responsibility between Headquarters and field offices; 
monitoring of procurement activity by managers, 
including with regard to implementation of oversight 
body recommendations and accountability of staff, 
should be strengthened; and a systematic risk 
assessment process for the review of procurement, both 
at Headquarters and in the field, should be established. 

52. Mr. Yoo Dae-jong (Republic of Korea) recalled 
that procurement activities, in particular procurement 
for peacekeeping operations, had greatly increased in 
volume and complexity. Allegations of mismanagement 
and fraud had underscored the need to reform the 
procurement system through strengthened internal 
controls and transparent management. He therefore 
welcomed the efforts to increase transparency and 
avoid conflicts of interest described in the report of the 
Secretary-General (A/60/846/Add.5). Other aspects 
however, such as optimization of acquisition and 
procurement management, were less well developed. 

53. He requested clarification regarding the timeline 
for the submission of related reports to the Committee, 
in particular the report on the division of peacekeeping 
mission acquisition management responsibilities 
between the Department of Management and the 
Department of Peacekeeping Operations. He expressed 
support for the review of field procurement rules and 
procedures with a view to establishing special 
procedures in support of immediate operational 
requirements, given that the current process was slow 
with a duplication of steps. The involvement of 
industry experts would promote the efficient delivery 
of services to the field. 

54. He would welcome more information on the 
measures being explored to optimize acquisition and 
procurement management and save costs. He stressed 
that partnership with other United Nations system 
bodies also had great potential to yield economies of 
scale and stability of supply. Such partnerships must be 
extended in order to improve coordination and 
eliminate duplication. 

55. Mr. Garcia (United States of America) reiterated 
the need for reform to provide the Organization with a 
transparent and efficiently managed procurement 
process. The many vacancies in field procurement 
posts must be filled and procurement staff must be 
provided with appropriate training. He welcomed 
efforts by the Secretariat to strengthen internal controls 
and optimize acquisition and procurement 
management. Some cost savings had been achieved as 
a result, and he welcomed the continuing efforts of the 
Secretary-General to address concerns relating to 
procurement system processes and internal control 
system deficiencies. 

56. The Secretary-General must, however, take a 
more proactive approach, particularly to improve 
oversight, establish internal controls and clarify 
responsibilities for Headquarters and field personnel 
involved in procurement. He urged rapid 
implementation of the independent bid process system. 
He agreed with ACABQ that the procurement reforms 
outlined by the Secretary-General in his report required 
further development and endorsed its recommendations 
regarding procurement-related resources. He reiterated 
his delegation’s concern that the General Assembly had 
allocated only general temporary assistance for that 
purpose and urged the allocation of regular funding for 
filling vacancies, information technology, legal 
processes, management reviews and training, and 
strengthened outreach by the end of the main part of 
the session. 

57. Reform of the procurement system focused on the 
strengthening of internal controls, improved 
acquisition management to reduce costs, and training 
of staff. Reform offered an opportunity to meet the 
ultimate goal of increasing Member States’ confidence 
in the procurement system by ensuring the 
Organization delivered its services in a timely, efficient 
and cost-effective manner.  

58. Mr. Kozaki (Japan) said that procurement reform 
was essential; fraud damaged the reputation of the 



A/C.5/61/SR.9  
 

06-58225 10 
 

Organization and made it difficult for Member States 
to justify contributing. His delegation had an obligation 
to its taxpayers to ensure that its assessed contributions 
were used in a transparent, accountable and efficient 
manner. Given the increase in the volume of 
procurement and the surge in peacekeeping operations, 
the weaknesses in the internal control framework must 
be remedied without delay. 

59. The report of the Secretary-General 
(A/60/846/Add.5) attempted to address those 
weaknesses and his delegation was ready to consider 
changes in the procurement process if given assurances 
they would enhance transparency, accountability and 
efficiency. Internal control and oversight must be 
strengthened, responsibility and accountability must be 
clarified and measures to prevent fraud must be 
implemented. Particular care must be taken to ensure 
that any measures adopted would improve oversight in 
the difficult context of field operations. 

60. Mr. Aljunied (Singapore) said that although 
some shortcomings had been identified in the 
Organization’s procurement system, care must be taken 
to avoid giving the impression that there was pervasive 
corruption and fraud. The issue of reform must be 
approached objectively with a view to strengthening 
the Organization and not used to promote parochial 
interests or individual agendas. 

61. There was a lack of clarity regarding delegation 
of authority and accountability for procurement 
between the Department of Management and the 
Department of Peacekeeping Operations, especially at 
the level of senior management. Delegation of 
authority was an integral part of internal control and a 
central focus of procurement reform. 

62. With regard to the investigation of procurement 
undertaken by the Office of Internal Oversight Services 
and its Procurement Task Force he noted that the 
Procurement Task Force had issued seven reports on 
six of the eight staff members placed on leave and 
expected to conclude reports on the two remaining staff 
members by the end of October. Recalling that ten 
months had elapsed since the staff members had been 
placed on leave, he asked when the seven reports 
would be made available to Member States, where they 
were currently and whether the remaining two 
investigations had been concluded. He also wondered 
who would receive the reports on the two remaining 
staff members and whether the body receiving the 

reports was required to respond in a timely manner. He 
would appreciate a response from OIOS in a formal 
meeting.  

63. Mr. Abdelmannan (Sudan) recalled the 
importance of increasing the share of the 
Organization’s procurement needs met by developing 
and transition countries. The Secretariat and the 
Procurement Service must devote more attention to 
evaluating the capabilities of suppliers in such 
countries and to disseminating information to them 
about the Organization’s procurement needs and the 
procedures to be followed for responding to tenders. 
New ways of encouraging suppliers from developing 
and transition countries should be developed and the 
reform process should include new rules relating to the 
need to encourage procurement from them. 

64. The discretionary powers of procurement officers 
should be limited, and all rules and procedures should 
be followed in order to ensure accountability and 
transparency; proper training of procurement officers 
would increase their professionalism. He expressed 
support for the views of ACABQ on reform of the 
procurement process (A/60/904) and stressed the need 
to coordinate the reform process with the Ethics Office.   

65. Mr. Safaei (Islamic Republic of Iran) said that 
most of the issues under discussion were not new; it 
was regrettable that the earlier recommendations of 
Member States had not been fully implemented. Iran 
advocated a transparent and simple procurement 
process which would enable all vendors, especially in 
developing countries, to receive information in time 
and to react in time. It was certainly a good idea to 
hold business seminars to enhance the awareness of 
developing country vendors. 

66. Mr. Sach (Controller) said that the Secretariat 
was grateful for the action taken by the Committee in 
July to provide an infusion of resources for the 
procurement process, which had resulted in rapid 
moves to recruit additional staff. It also looked forward 
to supplementary action at the current session in 
response to the recommendations contained in the 
Secretary-General’s report (A/60/846/Add.5). 

67. The lead agency concept was not a new one: 
provision was in fact made for it in rule 105.17 of the 
Financial Regulations and Rules. With regard to the 
possibility of additional cooperation between UNOPS 
and IAPSO mentioned by the representative of JIU, he 
noted that resolution 60/260 called for an assessment 



 A/C.5/61/SR.9

 

11 06-58225 
 

of the effectiveness of the internal controls in the 
bodies concerned and the ways in which they differed 
from the controls operated by the United Nations 
Procurement Service. The promotion of the lead 
agency concept must not be allowed to undermine the 
general quality of internal controls. The question of 
further cooperation should be addressed with caution 
pending the determination of the financial position of 
UNOPS: its financial statements for 2004-2005 had not 
yet been submitted and no audit opinion had been 
issued on its operations. 

68. The question of delegation of authority hinged on 
the capacity of the procurement system to cope with 
the major challenge posed by the expansion of 
peacekeeping operations. Simplistic solutions must be 
avoided: the deficiencies in the procurement system 
could not be solved by transferring responsibilities 
from one department to another. The main problem was 
to build up the capacity to procure while maintaining 
adequate internal control. There were procurement 
staffing problems within the peacekeeping missions. 
However, the Department of Peacekeeping Operations 
had some authority for capacity-building, and the 
Department of Management intended to work closely 
with it with a view to putting proposals before the 
Committee at the resumed session which addressed the 
governance issues in such a way as to ensure full 
operational capacity without diluting the requirements 
of internal control. 

69. The Secretariat was behind schedule with the 
announcement of detailed requirements for a bid 
protest system but hoped to put on the Internet in 
November the debriefing arrangements which were to 
follow the award of contracts as a step towards a 
comprehensive bid protest system. 

70. There was certainly a need to address the issue of 
the participation of developing countries and countries 
with economies in transition in the procurement 
system. The Secretary-General’s report contained a 
proposal for a new P-3 post to coordinate the work of 
widening States’ access to the Organization’s 
procurement operations. The present problem was that 
the absence of a post dedicated to coordination caused 
a conflict between immediate operational procurement 
requirements and the longer-term need to widen the 
vendor base and provide equal access to procurement 
opportunities. 

71. Although the best value for money approach was 
intended to secure the Organization’s best interests it 
was understandable that Member States should be 
concerned about how the approach worked in practice 
and whether it affected their access to procurement 
opportunities. The review being prepared for OIOS 
should indicate how such an approach could be used to 
improve procurement without having a negative effect 
on sources of supply. 

72. The Secretariat would convey the requests of the 
representative of Singapore relating to the suspended 
staff members to OIOS. On the question of recourse to 
outside consultants, he referred the Committee to the 
Secretariat’s written reply dated 25 May.  

73. As far as resources and capacity were concerned, 
the action taken by the Committee in July following its 
discussion of the Secretary-General’s report had been 
provisional. The Secretariat awaited definitive action 
with regard to resources to be made available from 
1 January 2007 to address the Organization’s longer-
term procurement-capacity requirements. The need was 
to ensure that the deficiencies were tackled 
systematically in order to produce a procurement 
system which was operationally effective but subject to 
appropriate control. 

74. Mr. Aljunied (Singapore) said that his delegation 
appreciated the connection between capacity and 
delegation of authority, but thought that the Secretariat 
should explore further ways in which authority could 
be delegated effectively and accountability enhanced. 
In view of the issue’s importance it should not be 
deferred to the resumed session. 

75. Ms. Udo (Nigeria) said that her delegation was 
not convinced that the appointment of a staff member 
at the P-3 level to coordinate efforts to improve the 
participation of the developing countries in 
procurement was a sufficient response. 

76. Mr. Golovinov (Russian Federation) said that the 
Russian Federation had consistently advocated 
increasing the effectiveness and reliability of the 
procurement system within the existing rules and in 
accordance with the General Assembly’s resolutions. 
For the purposes of its further consideration of the 
topic the Committee was awaiting several reports, 
some of which would not be available until 2007. That 
situation made the present discussion more difficult, 
especially as the Secretary-General’s report contained 
only limited information. His delegation would 



A/C.5/61/SR.9  
 

06-58225 12 
 

welcome in that connection a more detailed response to 
resolution 59/288. The Committee was also awaiting 
the Secretary-General’s proposals on conflicts of 
interest called for in a number of General Assembly 
resolutions. The Advisory Committee was right to 
point out in paragraph 25 of its report (A/60/904) that 
the Secretary-General’s proposals for procurement 
reform were merely a stage in a process requiring 
further development. 

77. Mr. Sach (Controller) said that it would be better 
to defer discussion of the delegation of authority to the 
resumed session because the Secretary-General’s report 
would be available by then. It must be remembered that 
the transfer of authority on paper was not a sufficient 
guarantee of the full integrity of a control system. An 
appropriate accountability and response mechanism 
must be built into the transfer in order to ensure that 
the intention of the Financial Regulations and Rules 
was fulfilled by the recipient of the authority. The 
issuer of the delegation must retain a residual 
responsibility for compliance, for otherwise delegation 
might prove tantamount to abdication. 

78. In response to the question raised by the 
representative of Nigeria he said that the establishment 
of the P-3 post should not be seen as the sole indicator 
of the Secretariat’s commitment: it was in fact the tip 
of the iceberg in respect of the total resources devoted 
to securing broader sources of supply and providing 
access for all the Member States. The Secretary-
General’s report on conflicts of interest was due to be 
issued in 2007, but action was being taken on the issue 
in the interim. 

79. Mr. Aljunied (Singapore) said that his delegation 
was not convinced by the Controller’s explanation 
concerning delegation of authority, initial steps could 
be taken immediately. 

80. Mr. Jussuf (Joint Inspection Unit) said that it 
was regrettable that CEB could not accept 
recommendation 7 as set out in the JIU report, for JIU 
believed very strongly in the need to formalize the 
inter-agency cooperation and coordination role of 
IAPWG, a view supported by the agencies themselves. 
JIU had made its recommendation for the merger of 
UNOPS and IAPSO two years earlier, when the 
finances of UNOPS had been in good order. It still 
advocated the merger, which would produce savings of 
some $800,000 a year, and urged the Committee to 
give careful consideration to recommendation 8. He 

agreed wholeheartedly with the representative of the 
Sudan on the need for training in the developing 
countries and the countries with economies in 
transition; it was high time to provide capacity-
building to enable them to participate in procurement. 
It was therefore important for Member States to act on 
recommendation 10. 

The meeting rose at 1 p.m. 


